FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/26/2020 3:23 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99150-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHANNON CUNNINGHAM,

Respondent,

VS.

JON R. KARWOSKI and ELIZABETH ANNE COLLINS A/K/A ELIZABETH ANNE KARWOSKI, husband and wife and the marital community comprised thereof,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian J. Waid WSBA No. 26038 WAID LAW OFFICE, PLLC 5400 California Ave. S. W., Ste D Seattle, Washington 98136 Telephone: 206-388-1926

Email: bjwaid@waidlawoffice.com

Attorney for Petitioners

INTRODUCTION

This is a frivolous appeal filed by an attorney. The appellants literally presented no admissible evidence in the trial court. They literally presented no legal arguments in the trial court. They literally present this Court with no record supporting any of their arguments raised for the first time here. They waived any possible appeal. But that did not stop their appellate lawyer from filing this appeal anyway.

Wasting this Court's time in this fashion is unconscionable. But it is particularly egregious where, as here, the appellants fail to tell the Court that they raised no arguments and proffered no admissible evidence in the trial court. Their candor is abysmal.

The only conceivable purpose for filing such an appeal is delay. And indeed, the appellants have delayed at every opportunity. They failed to file their record on time. They failed for months and months to file their opening brief – without even bothering to ask for an extension of time. They flout this Court's rules. It borders on contempt. It is certainly contemptable misconduct.

This Court should award Cunningham attorney fees and costs for this frivolous appeal against the appellants and their counsel. If this Court fails to find this appeal frivolous, then it should affirm and award Cunningham fees and costs under the Settlement Agreement.

RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES

Where parties responding to a summary judgment motion supported by affidavits, and seeking to enforce a written and signed Settlement Agreement, file no admissible evidence and no responsive pleadings, and then on appeal file no record showing that any legally cognizable issues were raised in the trial court, is their appeal necessarily frivolous because no issues were preserved?

Is this particularly true where, as here, the appellants delay the appeal process for many, many months, and then fail in their duty of candor to the tribunal by not disclosing the state of the record in their opening brief, much less raising RAP 2.5(a)?

Is this even more true where, as here, the unpreserved new arguments they now raise are frivolous in and of themselves?

In such circumstances, should this Court award attorney fees and costs against the appellants and their appellate counsel?

Is such an award even more justified where, as here, the appellants repeatedly flout this Court's rules – just as they flouted the trial court's rules – including repeatedly citing an unpublished decision in violation of GR 14.1?

RESTATEMENT OF CASE

A. Respondent Shannon Cunningham's predecessor in interest gave Appellant Karwoski a five-foot easement in 1991, but Karwoski never used it.

Respondent Shannon Cunningham owns a home and property at 3516 SW Roxbury Street, in Seattle, WA. CP 111.¹ In 1985, Appellant Karwoski purchased nearby property, including a single-family home, at 9446 36th Ave. SW ("North Property"). *Id.* In April 1991, Cunningham's predecessor in interest granted Karwoski a "Single Family Side Yard Easement" (the "Easement"). CP 111, 121. On its face, the Easement is intended to comply with Seattle City Land Use Code § 23.44.140(2), which "provides an exception from the five foot side yard requirement if an easement is provided along the side lot line of the abutting lot, sufficient to leave a ten foot separation between the two principal structures of the adjoining lots." CP 121. Karwoski never pursued development on his North Property to take advantage of the Easement. CP 112.²

¹ This cite is to Cunningham's Verified Complaint (CP 119), as attached to her declaration in support of her motion to enforce her Settlement Agreement with the Karwoskis. CP 110-19. In her Declaration, Cunningham again verified that her allegations in this attached complaint are true and correct. CP 106. Thus, these are sworn facts (not just unsworn allegations) that provide the necessary background for this appeal.

² Attached as Appendix A is a topographic boundary survey of Cunningham's property that identifies the Easement, and Cunningham's Northern Fence, rockwall/rockery, and garage, all discussed *infra*. CP 124.

Cunningham's garage in the northeast corner of her property encroaches on the Easement. CP 112, 124 (App. A). It has been there for more than ten years. CP 113. Also within the Easement are Cunningham's "Northern fence" and rock wall/rockery. *Id.* These extend the entire length of Cunningham's northern boundary line, creating a barrier to accessing her property from the north. *Id.* South of the Northern Fence, and within the Easement, Cunningham and her predecessors also installed a patio and landscaping. *Id.*

In 1992, Karwoski also purchased the property to the west of the Cunningham Property at 3520 SW Roxbury Street ("West Property"). CP 111-12.

B. In 2017, Karwoski repeatedly threatened to kill Cunningham and her domestic partner, and damaged her property, and Cunningham obtained a protection order.

Since at least 2017, Karwoski has sorely vexed Cunningham:

He threatened to kill Cunningham and her domestic partner;

he otherwise threatened to physically harm them;

he yelled and screamed at them;

he surveilled and monitored them;

he made slicing gestures with his finger across his throat, implying he would cut Cunningham's throat;

he trespassed on her property; and

he attempted to ram her car with his truck.

CP 113-15. Perhaps needless to say, Karwoski has caused Cunningham and her partner severe emotional distress. *Id.*

Cunningham called the police for help and protection against Karwoski numerous times. CP 114. She twice petitioned the King County District Court for orders of protection. CP 114, 126-61. She obtained an Order of Protection against Karwoski. CP 114, 163-65.

Despite the protection order, Karwoski dismantled portions of Cunningham's fence and trespassed on her property. CP 114. He nailed materials to the side of her garage. *Id.* He asserted "ownership" over the Easement and threatened further damage to her fence and garage. *Id.* He threatened to build a stairwell from an elevated deck on his West Property into the Easement. *Id.* He trespassed to dig holes for fenceposts and to deposit concrete and construction materials onto her property. CP 114-15.

C. In February 2018, Cunningham sued the Karwoskis, obtaining temporary and preliminary injunctions against them entering and damaging her property, and the City of Seattle filed criminal charges against Karwoski.

In February 2018, Cunningham sued Karwoski and his wife, Elizabeth Anne Collins ("Karwoskis"), asserting Trespass/Waste, Outrage, Assault, Declaratory Relief, Adverse Possession, Estoppel, and Quiet Title. CP 110-19. She sought and obtained a Temporary

Restraining Order and Order to Show Cause. CP 59-79. Two days later, attorney Ryan Yoke appeared for the Karwoskis. CP 82-83.

Also in February 2018, the City of Seattle filed criminal charges against Karwoski due to his continuing harassment and violation of Cunningham's protection orders. CP 107, 167-69.

In early March 2018, the parties stipulated to an agreed Preliminary Injunction. CP 88-92. Under the Injunction, the Karwoskis were restrained from entering Cunningham's property, including the Easement, and from damaging, destroying, moving, or altering her fence or other property. CP 90. They were specifically warned that any violation would subject them to arrest. CP 91.

D. In May 2018, the parties settled.

In May 2018, the parties mediated with Sherman Knight. CP 107, 180. All parties were present, represented by counsel. *Id.* Cunningham presented a summary of the harassment she has suffered. CP 107, 171-72 (attached as Appendix B). Simply put, she had to call 911 over 20 times in one year; her son is suffering such severe anxiety and fear for his mother's life that he had to seek help from a child psychologist; and she has spent countless hours and large sums combatting Karwoski's harassment. App. B (CP 171-72).

The parties settled. CP 108, 174-75 (agreement attached as Appendix C); CP 180. They agreed to the following (App. C):

- Permanent injunction/No Contact Order preventing Karwoskis from direct or indirect contact/harassment/ surveillance of Cunningham and her guests, invitees and tenants.
- Dismissal of all claims and counterclaims.
- Full mutual releases.
- Cunningham and her partner will advise the prosecutor that they are no longer interested in prosecuting Karwoski; they will not be restricted, however, from responding to any legal subpoena.
- Karwoskis release/extinguish the Easement.
- Karwoskis release/extinguish Accessory Structure Agreement.
- Karwoskis acknowledge and accept Cunningham's surveyed property boundaries, including her ownership of the rock wall/rockery and fence.
- The parties shall not enter each other's properties without express prior consent.
- All adverse possession claims are waived.
- Cunningham's fence will remain and may be repaired.
- Karwoskis pay Cunningham \$12,500 within 30 days.
- The parties agree to execute all necessary documents.
- Sherman Knight will arbitrate any disputes over the final language of the settlement or other documents.
- Cunningham and her partner (Brelinski) stipulate to vacating the protection orders against Karwoski.

E. For months, the Karwoskis failed to comply with the settlement terms to which they had agreed.

In late May 2018, the Karwoskis promised to deliver the settlement check (\$12,500) to counsel (Yoke) during the week of June 4, 2018. CP 181, 185-86. They failed to do so. CP 181.

On June 8, 2018, Yoke advised Cunningham's counsel that the Karwoskis were mailing a check that day. CP 181, 188. No check ever arrived. CP 181.

On June 19, 2018, Yoke advised Cunningham's counsel that the Karwoskis were working on getting the settlement payment together. CP 181, 191. That never happened either. CP 181.

F. In August 2018, the parties filed a Notice of Settlement of All Claims Against All Parties, signed by their counsel.

In August 2018, the parties filed an LCR 41 Notice of Settlement of All Claims Against All Parties, signed by their attorneys of record. CP 93-94 (copy attached as Appendix D); CP 181, 207-08 (attorney Yoke gives permission to file Notice of Settlement). This Notice acknowledges that the parties entered into a settlement agreement on May 3, 2018, subject to finalizing settlement documents and carrying out settlement terms. App. D (CP 93). The parties even stipulated that the trial court could dismiss the case under LCR 41(b)(2)(B) if the parties did not file a written notice of

settlement or certificate of settlement without dismissal within 45 days. *Id*.

Despite expressly acknowledging their settlement to the trial court, by October 1, 2018, it was clear that the Karwoskis did not intend to honor their word. CP 181, 196. Cunningham's counsel informed the Karwoskis' attorney Yoke that she would enforce the Settlement Agreement. *Id.* Not coincidentally (and long after the 45 days had passed) Yoke filed a Notice of Intent to Withdraw (dated October 1) on October 11, effective October 18, 2018. CP 95-96.3

On October 9 (prior to Yoke's withdrawal becoming effective) Cunningham's counsel again sent Yoke the settlement documents, giving the Karwoskis until October 19 to raise any disputes regarding those documents. CP 181-82, 201-02, 224-53. On October 22, 2018, Yoke confirmed that he had communicated with the Karwoskis, but they never complied with the settlement. CP 181, 210. No one ever raised any disputes regarding the settlement documents with Cunningham, her counsel, the arbitrator, or the trial court. CP 182.

³ The opening brief falsely asserts that the withdraw was effective the same day it was filed. *Compare BA 5 & n.2* (effective October 11) *with CP 95* (effective October 18). Nobody objected. See CR 71(c)(3).

G. In November 2018, Cunningham sought to enforce the settlement, with which she had fully complied.

In November 2018, Cunningham filed a motion to enforce the Settlement Agreement. CP 97-105. Cunningham offered the trial court a video of Karwoski trespassing on her property and dismantling her fence. CP 107. She also offered her above-noted summary and the Settlement Agreement. CP 107-08, 171-72 (App. B), 174-75 (App. C).

Cunningham also explained that she had satisfied the key term of the Settlement Agreement – seeing that the criminal charges against Karwoski were dismissed (CP 108):

Following the mediation, and in accordance with Section 4 of the CR 2A Agreement, Mr. Brelinski and I stopped cooperating with the prosecutor pursuing the criminal charges against Mr. Karwoski. As a result, the criminal charges against Mr. Karwoski were dismissed. Attached hereto as **Exhibit 5** are true and accurate copies of the Order of Dismissal entered in each of the criminal cases.

See also CP 177-79 (Orders dismissing criminal cases). Yet despite Cunningham's performance of this key settlement term, the Karwoskis refused to execute the necessary documents – as they promised to do – or to pay the \$12,500. CP 108. Cunningham thus requested enforcement of the Settlement Agreement. *Id*.

H. The trial court enforced the Settlement Agreement.

On December 14, 2018, the hearing on Cunningham's motion was (at Karwoski's request) continued to February 8, 2019. CP 254-55. That hearing was subsequently continued to February 28, 2019. CP 288-90.

Karwoski filed nothing.4

On February 28, 2019, the trial court enforced the Settlement Agreement, entering a Judgment and Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion to Enforce CR 2A Settlement Agreement, totaling \$13,784.17. CP 293-96. The trial court also entered a Judgment and Order Awarding Plaintiff Attorney's Fees of \$6,138, on March 20, 2019. CP 310-14. The trial court found the Karwoskis' arguments and defenses frivolous. CP 311. They were unsupported by "any rational argument" and "advanced without reasonable cause." *Id*.

The Karwoskis appealed on March 22, 2019. CP 315-24. They filed an Amended Notice of Appeal on March 28, 2019. CP 325-34.

⁴ The opening brief repeatedly refers to emails between Karwoski and his attorney Yoke that Karwoski apparently filed in trial court during the December 14 hearing. *Compare* BA 3-5 & n.1 *with* CP 256-74. As discussed *infra*, those unsworn, inadmissible emails prove nothing.

ARGUMENT

A. Review is de novo.

This Court reviews a trial court's decision to enforce a settlement agreement *de novo*. *Lavigne v. Green*, 106 Wn. App. 12, 16, 23 P.3d 515 (2001). "The trial court follows summary judgment procedures when a moving party relies on affidavits or declarations to show that a settlement agreement is not genuinely disputed." *Condon v. Condon*, 177 Wn.2d 150, 161, 298 P.3d 86 (2013). The trial court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and determine whether reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion. *Cruz v. Chavez*, 186 Wn. App. 913, 920, 347 P.3d 912 (2015).

B. This appeal is frivolous.

The trial court found the Karwoskis' arguments and defenses

– whatever they might have been – frivolous. CP 311. Indeed, it
found them unsupported by "any rational argument" and "advanced
without reasonable cause." *Id.* They have not improved with age.

An appeal is frivolous when, considering the entire record, this Court is convinced that the appeal does not present any debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ and that it is so without merit that there is no possibility of reversal. *Ames v. Ames*,

184 Wn. App. 826, 857, 340 P.3d 232 (2014), rev. denied, 352 P.3d 187 (2015). This Court resolves all doubts about frivolity in an appellant's favor. *Ames*, 184 Wn. App. at 857.

But the Karwoskis present no reasonably debatable issues. Indeed, they have not even challenged the trial court's finding that their claims and defenses were frivolous, unsupported by "any rational argument," and "advanced without reasonable cause." Compare CP 311 with BA 1-2. They raised no issues and presented no evidence in the trial court, much less debatable issues or admissible evidence. They may not raise them for the first time here.⁵

⁵ See, e.a., RAP 9.12 (in reviewing summary judgment, this Court will consider only evidence and issues called to the trial court's attention); Kofmehl v. Baseline Lake, LLC, 177 Wn.2d 584, 594, 305 P.3d 230 (2013) ("the appellate court may consider only the evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court" on summary judgment); Doe v. Puget Sound Blood Ctr., 117 Wn.2d 772, 780, 819 P.2d 370 (1991) (reviewing court generally will not consider theories not presented to the trial court); Smith v. Shannon, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983) (same; this rule affords trial court an opportunity to correct any error, avoiding unnecessary appeals and retrials); see also Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Wash. v. McCarthy, 152 Wn. App. 720, 743, 218 P.3d 196 (2009) ("Where a continuance is not clearly requested, the trial court does not err in deciding a summary judgment motion based on the evidence before it") (citing, e.g., *Turner v. Kohler*, 54 Wn. App. 688, 695, 775 P.2d 474 (1989) (trial court acted properly in hearing motion on record before it); Guile v. Ballard Cmty. Hosp., 70 Wn. App. 18, 24-25, 851 P.2d 689 (1993) (if plaintiff "needed additional time, the proper remedy . . . [was] to request another continuance from the trial court"; "she failed to do this [so] is precluded from raising this issue on appeal"; to "hold otherwise would constitute an unwarranted encroachment on the trial court's discretion to dismiss cases which fail to raise genuine issues for trial")).

Any arguments the Karwoskis might have made were waived due to their failure to proffer any admissible evidence or any legally supported arguments to the trial court. See, e.g., RAP 2.5(a); Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 39, 123 P.3d 844 (2005) (appellate court "may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court"). While RAP 2.5(a) contains three express exceptions ("(1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right"), the Karwoskis have not cited or discussed RAP 2.5(a), nor made any argument as to why their wholly unpreserved issues based on inadmissible and irrelevant evidence may be raised here. They may not do so for the first time in reply, as such sandbagging would be wholly unfair to Cunningham. See, e.g., Cowiche Canyon Conserv. v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (citing *Marriage of Sacco*, 114 Wn.2d 1, 5, 784 P.2d 1266 (1990)).

The *only* thing in this record from Karwoski is some emails between he and his lawyer, or between the lawyers and the trial court, attached to a cover sheet. CP 256-74. These emails were not and are not admissible: they are not attached to a declaration or otherwise authenticated or verified, so they may not be considered

on summary judgment. See, e.g., CR 56(e) (requiring admissible evidence attached to sworn affidavit authenticating it).

The communications with the trial court are purely procedural.

Karwoski appears to have handwritten notes on them, but these cryptic notes are unsworn, inadmissible, irrelevant, and unsupported by any citation to legal authority. They cannot establish anything.

Moreover, communications between Karwoski and his lawyer are obviously improper and irrelevant: Cunningham had no access to or knowledge of those (previously) privileged communications.

Nor do the previously privileged emails counter or contradict the Karwoskis' signatures on their Settlement Agreement. At most, those inadmissible emails confirm the Karwoskis' settlers' remorse after they settled. See, e.g., CP 265-69 (emails in July and August 2018, which are after May 3, 2018 settlement).

Even the previously privileged emails Karwoski exchanged with his lawyer before the Settlement Agreement do not explain away the Karwoskis' signatures on that Agreement. CP 269-74. These inadmissible and unauthenticated emails show nothing more than failed posturing, but are irrelevant in any event.

The Karwoskis filed nothing admissible regarding the summary judgment at issue. Their appeal is frivolous.

C. The trial court properly enforced the Settlement Agreement against the Karwoskis, who signed it.

As explained above, this Court need not – and should not – reach the merits. The Karwoskis simply gave the trial court no reasonable opportunity to consider any legitimate argument or admissible evidence. This Court should go no further. Rather, it should affirm and award attorney fees and costs to Cunningham. This appeal is utterly meritless.

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