# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/25/2020 3:52 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99150-2

Court of Appeals No. 79753-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHANNON CUNNINGHAM,

Respondent,

٧.

JON KARWOSKI,

Petitioner.

#### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Avenue North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 ken@appeal-law.com Attorneys for Respondent

## **

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

Following the mediation, and in accordance with Section 4 of the CR 2A Agreement, Mr. Brelinski and I stopped cooperating with the prosecutor pursuing the criminal charges against Mr. Karwoski. As a result, the criminal charges against Mr. Karwoski were dismissed. Attached hereto as **Exhibit 5** are true and accurate copies of the Order of Dismissal entered in each of the criminal cases.

See also CP 177-79 (Orders dismissing criminal cases). Yet despite Cunningham's performance of this key settlement term, the Karwoskis refused to execute the necessary documents – as they promised to do – or to pay the \$12,500. App. C (CP 108). Cunningham thus requested enforcement of the Settlement Agreement. *Id*.

# G. The trial court enforced the Settlement Agreement, found the Karwoskis' arguments frivolous and without reasonable cause, and awarded fees to Cunningham.

On December 14, 2018, Jon requested and obtained a continuance to February 8, 2019. CP 254-55. During that hearing, Jon had copies of several October and December 2018 e-mails between the parties' counsel and the trial court regarding the motion and a hearing date. App. A at 7. Jon was not a party to most of those e-mails, but he did receive a December 10 e-mail from Cunningham's counsel attaching a copy of a proposed judgment and order for the December 14 hearing. Id. Yet unidentified handwritten notes on the e-mails claimed that the Karwoskis lacked notice of the hearing. Id. Jon also presented copies of several e-mails with his counsel from July and August 2018, apparently taking issue with the decision to agree to the entry of the notice of settlement. Id. The trial court granted Jon's motion and continued the hearing to February 2019, and later continued it again. Id. Yet Jon filed no pleadings and proffered no competent evidence.

On February 28, 2019, the trial court enforced the Settlement Agreement, entering a Judgment and Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion to Enforce CR 2A Settlement Agreement, totaling \$13,784.17. CP 293-96. The trial court also entered a Judgment and

Order Awarding Plaintiff Attorney's Fees of \$6,138, on March 20, 2019. CP 310-14.

The trial court found the Karwoskis' arguments and defenses frivolous. CP 311. They were unsupported by "any rational argument" and "advanced without reasonable cause." *Id*.

The Karwoskis appealed in March 2019. CP 315-30.

H. The Court of Appeals affirmed and awarded attorney fees and costs to Cunningham, but the Karwoskis continued their abusive litigation tactics by moving to modify the Commissioner's ruling awarding reasonable fees and costs.

After finding the appellants' brief delinquent and granting extensions, the appellate court set a motion to dismiss in August 2019. See August 5, 2019 Notation Ruling (attached as App. E). Their current counsel then appeared and requested yet more time to file a brief – albeit without filing another motion for extension of time. The briefing was eventually completed.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. App. A. Noting that both Karwoskis signed the CR 2A Agreement, it held that somebody's handwritten note on an unverified and unsworn email claiming that Jon "never agreed to an agreement" was insufficient to raise a

genuine issue of fact. *Id.* at 12. Nor did they raise their first two appellate arguments in the trial court, so they waived them. *Id.*<sup>4</sup>

The appellate court further held that Cunningham met her burden to show that no genuine dispute exists as to the existence or material terms of the Agreement. *Id.* at 13 (citing *Brinkerhoff v. Campbell*, 99 Wn. App. 692, 696-97, 994 P.2d 911 (2000)). The Karwoskis' "self-serving after-the-fact" information (an unsworn, unverified, unidentified handwritten note on an unauthenticated email) did not raise a genuine dispute as to their CR 2A's existence or terms. *Id.* (citing *Patterson*, 93 Wn. App. at 584). The trial court thus "did not err in granting Cunningham's motion to enforce the agreement." *Id.* 

The appellate court awarded attorney fees to Cunningham under the terms of the CR 2A Agreement. *Id.* at 13-15. Having done so, the court *declined to reach* Cunningham's request for frivolous-appeal fees and costs. *Id.* at 15 n.9. That request – which sought an award against both the Karwoskis and their appellate attorney – was based on RCW 4.84.185 – frivolous litigation fees – which is the same ground on which the trial court ruled their claims frivolous. CP

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Even if they had not waived them, they would fail: their lawyer did not have to sign their settlement agreement to bind them, and their CR 2A Agreement was obviously supported by consideration. App. A at 12 (citing *In re Patterson*, 93 Wn. App. 579, 585, 969 P.2d 1106 (1999) and *State* 

174, 311-12. Cunningham also cited RAP 18.9 and *Clarke v. Equinox Holdings, Ltd.*, 56 Wn. App. 125, 783 P.2d 82 (1989) (summary judgment fees affirmed; fee award for frivolous appeal).

The Karwoskis objected to Cunningham's fee request, claiming – without any evidence whatsoever – that Cunningham's appellate counsel spent 50% of his efforts on a request for attorney fees for a frivolous appeal. Rejecting this false claim, the Commissioner cogently noted that "the asserted frivolousness of the Karwoskis' argument is intertwined with the merits of this appeal" and that the "Karwoskis offer no good reason why this Court should reduce the amount of attorney fees requested by appellate counsel Masters." Commissioner's Ruling Awarding Attorney Fees and Costs (July 20, 2020) (attached as App. F at 3-4, emphasis added). The Commissioner awarded all the reasonable fees and costs Cunningham's appellate counsel requested, \$14,878.17. App. F.5

Continuing their frivolous and harassing arguments that segregation is required even though the awarded fees are undisputedly reasonable, the Karwoskis moved to modify the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Cunningham's trial counsel had also sought fees for obtaining supersedeas and work on the appeal, which the Commissioner partially denied. App. F at 2-4. Those fees are not at issue here.

Commissioner's ruling. Cunningham responded, explaining that whatever the Karwoskis' vendetta against her may be, it cannot justify reducing a reasonable fee award. See App. G. Specifically, Cunningham was "justifiably concerned – notwithstanding her trial counsel's successful (if difficult) efforts to force Karwoski to file a cash supersedeas bond – that [Jon] would continue to increase the costs of litigation *ad nauseam*, and ultimately would refuse to pay all the fees that could be awarded in lengthy trial and appellate litigation." *Id.* at 3.

The panel denied the motion to modify. See Appendix H.

The Karwoskis now continue their frivolous, harassing litigation in this Court, filing a frivolous nine-page PFR accompanied by a patently unnecessary, overblown, and harassing *247-page*\*\*Appendix\*\*. Despite their transparent attempts to make nothing look like something, there is no fire beneath all that smoke.

#### REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. The Karwoskis have failed even to address the appropriate criteria for review, much less to satisfy them.

As noted *supra*, the Karwoskis are seeking review of an order denying a motion to modify the Commissioner's ruling calculating reasonable attorney fees, not of a decision terminating review. See PFR at 2-3. Thus, their proper avenue was not a PFR, but a motion

for discretionary review of the order denying modification.<sup>6</sup> As a result, the Karwoskis have failed to address the proper criteria under RAP 13.5(b). This Court should deny discretionary review.

Nor did the Court of Appeals commit obvious error rendering further proceedings useless, or probable error substantially altering the status quo or limiting anyone's freedom; nor so far depart from the accepted and usual course as to call for this Court's revisory jurisdiction. RAP 13.5(b). As discussed *infra*, the Commissioner's ruling is correct, and it was made in the usual course. The Karwoskis do not address these criteria, so there is nothing to respond to. Again, this Court should deny discretionary review.

# B. There are no conflicts with decisions of this Court or of the Court of Appeals.

The Karwoskis incorrectly claim the Commissioner's analysis conflicts with several appellate decisions, but do not discuss or explain most of them, and those they do address, they misrepresent. PFR 6-9. They also fail to discuss the many cases that support the Commissioner's analysis, such as *Pannell v. Food Servs. of Am.*,

<sup>6</sup> See RAP 18.1(f) (commissioner awards fees); RAP 18.1(g) (objection to fee award solely by motion to modify under RAP 17.7); RAP 17.6 (judges decide motion by order); RAP 17.7 (motion to Justices of the Supreme Court decided by five-Justice panel); RAP 13.3(a)(2) (interlocutory

decisions are those that do not terminate review, such as orders denying modification); RAP 13.5 (criteria for granting interlocutory review).

14

61 Wn. App. 418, 447-48, 810 P.2d 952 (1991) (issues interrelated so no reasonable segregation possible). Indeed, while they "acknowledge" that "courts need not segregate fees if no reasonable segregation of successful and unsuccessful claims can be made," they fail to discuss *any* case so holding. PFR 6-7.<sup>7</sup> This Court should deny discretionary review.

Courts have no discretion to deny all attorney fees where, as here, a contract provides them to the prevailing party. See, e.g., Singleton v. Frost, 108 Wn.2d 723, 729-30, 742 P.2d 1224 (1987); RCW 4.84.330. But courts do have discretion to limit attorney fees to a reasonable amount. Singleton, 108 Wn.2d at 730 (citing Merrick v. Peterson, 25 Wn. App. 248, 256, 606 P.2d 700 (1980)). No abuse of discretion exists unless no reasonable person would take the position adopted by the court. Id. (citing Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc., 92 Wn.2d 576, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979)).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Citing *Hume v. Am. Disposal Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 656, 672-73, 880 P.2d 988 (1994); *Kastanis v. Educ. Emp. Credit Union*, 122 Wn.2d 483, 859 P.2d 26 (1993); *Gaglidari v. Denny's Rest., Inc.*, 117 Wn.2d 426, 450, 815 P.2d 1362 (1991); *Schmidt v. Cornerstone Invest., Inc.*, 115 Wn.2d 148, 171, 795 P.2d 1143 (1990); *Travis v. Wash. Horse Breeders Ass'n, Inc.*, 111 Wn.2d 396, 410-11, 759 P.2d 418 (1988); *Boeing Co. v. Sierracin Corp.*, 108 Wn.2d 38, 66, 738 P.2d 665 (1987); *Nordstrom, Inc. v. Tampourlos*, 107 Wn.2d 735, 744, 733 P.2d 208 (1987); *Fisher Prop., Inc. v. Arden-Mayfair, Inc.*, 106 Wn.2d 826, 849-50, 726 P.2d 8 (1986); *Reninger v. Dept. of Corr.*, 79 Wn. App. 623, 640, 901 P.2d 325 (1995), as amended, affirmed on other grnds. 134 Wn.2d 437 (1998).

The Commissioner properly set forth the law on the "lodestar" analysis. App. F at 3-4 (citing *Mahler v. Szucs*, 135 Wn.2d 398, 434-35, 957 P.2d 632, 966 P.2d 305 (1998); *Absher Constr. Co. v. Kent Sch. Dist. No. 415*, 79 Wn. App. 841, 847, 917 P.2d 1086 (1995); *Nordstrom*, 107 Wn.2d at 744; *Berryman v. Metcalf*, 177 Wn. App. 644, 657, 660, 312 P.3d 745 (2013)). Under these well-known cases, the court calculates a reasonable fee based on the number of hours reasonably spent, multiplied by a reasonable hourly rate, taking an active role in the determination. *Berryman*, 177 Wn. App. at 660.

But the Karwoskis have *never* argued that either the hours appellate counsel spent, nor the hourly rate he charged, were unreasonable, nor do they here. Thus, the Commissioner correctly determined the lodestar to be \$14,780.17. App. F at 1. On its face, that is a reasonable fee for responding to the Karwoskis' appeal.

Although the fee award is undisputedly reasonable – so there is no *need* to reduce it – the Karwoskis insist that "the *court* must separate the time spent on those theories essential to [the cause of action for which attorneys' fees are properly awarded] and the time spent on legal theories relating the other causes of action . . . This must include, on the record, a segregation of the time allowed for the [separate] legal theories . . . ." PFR 6 (truncating *Hume*, 124 Wn.2d

at 673 (quoting *Travis*, 111 Wn.2d at 411) (emphasis added in PFR)). This paraphrase omits the key provision relevant here from *Hume*, and ignores that *Travis* and *Hume* are distinguishable.

What *Travis* and *Hume* hold is that when, unlike here, a plaintiff is entitled to attorney fees under only one claim (like the CPA claim that *Travis reversed*) but the trial court awarded fees for work done on several different successful claims, the case should be remanded to the trial court for segregation of fees. 111 Wn.2d at 409-11; 124 Wn.2d at 673. That is, where only one claim allows for a *statutory* fee award, fees cannot be awarded on non-statutory claims merely because there is a common nucleus of operative facts. *Id*.

Kastanis is the opposite of Travis and Hume. There – again unlike here – the plaintiff prevailed on only one of four separate causes of action, a marital discrimination claim, which was the only claim permitting a fee award. Kastanis, 122 Wn.2d at 501-02. The trial court made no finding that the claims were inseparable, and this Court did not believe it would be unnecessarily complex for the plaintiff to segregate her fees, so the trial court erred in not requiring segregation. Id. at 502. But because Kastanis reversed the sole successful claim due to instructional error, that was an end of it. Id.

Kastanis cites and discusses Blair v. WSU, 108 Wn.2d 588, 740 P.2d 1379 (1987). Id. There (again, unlike here) both plaintiff and defendant prevailed on some claims, but the trial court ruled that the plaintiff substantially prevailed on her civil rights claim, which allowed a fee award. And like the Commissioner here, the trial court also ruled the "issues and evidence [are] so interrelated as to make a division based on successful and unsuccessful claims impossible without being arbitrary." Blair, 108 Wn.2d at 571. This Court affirmed the award of all the plaintiffs' fees. Id. 572.

Blair has been followed many times. See, e.g., Ethridge v. Hwang, 105 Wn. App. 447, 461, 20 P.3d 958 (2001) ("court is not required to artificially segregate time in a case, such as this one, where the claims all relate to the same fact pattern, but allege different bases for recovery"). And neither Travis, Kastanis, nor any other case the Karwoskis discuss, is apposite here. This case involves a contractual fee clause, and a wholly successful enforcement of a CR 2A Agreement – not four or five different claims on which only one allows statutory fees.

That Cunningham prevailed in the trial court on her single claim – enforcement of the CR 2A – *both* because the Agreement was enforceable *and* because the Karwoskis' arguments were

frivolous, does not create two claims. See, e.g., Fiore v. PPG Indus., Inc., 169 Wn. App. 325, 352, 279 P.3d 972 (2012) (where, as here, "the plaintiff's claims . . . involve a common core of facts or [are] based on related legal theories," a lawsuit cannot be "viewed as a series of discrete claims" and, thus, the claims should not be segregated in determining an award of fees") (quoting Brand v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 139 Wn.2d 659, 672-73, 989 P.2d 1111 (1999) (quoting Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424, 435, 103 S. Ct. 1933, 76 L. Ed. 2d 40 (1983))). The Karwoskis are simply wrong.

In any event, this Court reviews a "determination of whether segregation is possible for abuse of discretion." King County v. Vinci Constr. Grands Projects/Parsons RCI/Frontier-Kemper, JV, 188 Wn.2d 618, 632, 398 P.3d 1093 (2017) ("Vinci") (citation omitted). If (unlike here) "an attorney fees recovery is authorized for only some of the claims, the attorney fees award must properly reflect a segregation. . . . " *Vinci*, 188 Wn.2d at 632 (emphasis added; citation omitted). But "segregation of fees is not necessary where [as here] 'the trial court finds the claims to be so related that no reasonable segregation of successful and unsuccessful claims can made." Id. (emphasis added: citation The be omitted). Commissioner so found. No abuse of discretion occurred.

C. This Court should award Cunningham fees under the CR 2A Agreement for having to answer this frivolous PFR.

CR 2A Agreement for having to answer the Karwoskis' frivolous PFR.

This Court should award Cunningham attorney fees under the

RCW 4.84.330 (contractual fees); RAP 18.1(j) (fees for answering

PFR); RAP 18.1 (court may award attorney fees and costs when

authorized by applicable law); RAP 14.1 (costs to prevailing party);

Settlement Agreement ¶ 12 (App. C, CP 174); App. A at 14-15.

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review and award Cunningham contractual attorney fees under RAP 18.1(j).